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PREFACE

This study was assigned to the writer by President Charles W.
Florence in 1932, but because of the pressure of graduate work
it was not begun until 1934. When the study had been brought
down to 1880, it was the writer’s misfortune to have all of the
manuscript destroyed by one of the University’s janitors, causing
further delay in bringing the work to completion.

The purpose of THE HISTORY OF LINCOLN UNIVERSITY is
to determine what factors have made the growth and development
of the university possible. This school had its origin around the
campfires of Camp McIntosh on the plains of Texas and it is prob-
ably the only land-grant college owing its origin to the soldiers of
the Civil War while they were still in the service. These men
stipulated that the school should be located somewhere in Missouri,
a natural choice inasmuch as most of the members of the 62nd and
65th United States Colored Infantry, who sponsored the movement,
were from Missouri.

The problem of organizing and financing the school was difficult
and remained so until the State started giving aid in 1870. The
school became a state normal school in 1879, and since that time
has been supported by the State. Lincoln University is among the
oldest of the Negro schools which developed out of the Civil War.
It has remained small, and only in recent years has it begun to take
a higher place among the schools of the country. This has been
of great concern to the writer.

There probably will be disappointment in some quarters because
very little has been said about the graduates. The reasons for
this are, first, the available information concerning graduates is
meagre, and, second, such information as could be gathered about
Lincoln’s 1,400 graduates and 14,000 former students would delay
the publication of this volume beyond set limits and even make it
unnecessarily bulky. The hope of the writer and Mr. Hadley Harts-
horn, Lincoln alumnus now serving on the laboratory high school
faculty, who is securing information on graduates, is to bring out
such a study in the near future. In recording some events and leav-
ing out others, it has been the purpose of the investigator to give
a true picture of the school’s history and to set forth an authentic
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story. Footnotes have been used for ready rerference by the curious
and verification by future historians.

The author is indebted to several persons and instructors all of
whom ecannot be singled out. Several students on NYA projects
have aided in securing material: Lucille Mitchell, class of 1935;
Mary Frances Everhart, Class of 1938; Dorine Johnson, Class of
1935; Catherine Maulden, Ethel Camille Rhodes, Thelma Ursalyn
Gipson, Helen Gertrude Whitley, Ernest P. Beam, Victor E. Travis,
Ollie Lee Tutt, Mary B. White and Miss Sara J. Spencer, instruc-
tor in the Department of History. Miss Flora Odessa Freeman, in-
structor in the laboratory high school, read the entire manuscript
except the last chapter. The author acknowledges his appreciation
to the library assistants of the State Historical Society at Columbia,
Mo.; the librarian and assistant librarian at the state library; to the
assistants at the office of the State Department of Education, and
to the librarian and assistants at Lincoln University. The study
could hardly have been completed without the aid given by Mrs.
Alberta Hall, secretary to the president of Lincoln University, who
made many of the records available. The study on student mortality
in the appendix was furnished by Miss Marguerite Hicks, recorder
and secretary of the registrar’s office.

If the study will expose undesirable features in educational in-
stitutions so they will be eliminated, the writer will have been
well repaid.

W.S. 8.
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CHAPTER 1.

THE FOUNDING OF LINCOLN INSTITUTE

THE CONCEPTION of the idea of founding a school in Missouri
for the education of Negroes originated with colored soldiers in
service during the Civil War. Lincoln University became immedi-
ately an unique exception to the general practice during the post-
bellum era, of establishing Negro schools on the contributions
of philanthropic whites.

The men who made up the 62nd and 65th Colored Infantries—
the units which together set on foot the movement to establish
what is now Lincoln University—were for the most part recruited
from Missouri. The 62nd, organized at Benton Barracks in Decem-
ber, 1863, served in Louisiana and Texas until 1866, This regi-
ment fought little, but valiantly and ereditably, according to reports
made by those in command. Most of its time, however, was spent
in digging trenches under the summer sun at Baton Rouge, Port
Hudson, Moganza, Brazas and Santiago. It served in the Civil War
as did the labor units or the pioneer infantries in the World War.
About four hundred of these men were killed on southern soil,
giving their lives as readily and nobly as those who fell in battle.’

The 65th United States Colored Infantry, stationed at Baton
Rouge, Louisiana, did much the same work as did the 62nd. The
contributions of the former were considerably smaller than those of
the latter.

In January, 1866, while the 62nd Infantry Regiment was sta-
tioned at Fort McIntosh, Texas, about two hundred miles from the
mouth of the Rio Grande, an order came from the War Department
to re-form the regiment into four companies and to muster out of
service the supernumerary soldiers—non-commissioned and com-
missioned officers. One of the officers mustered out of the service
was Richard Baxter Foster, a First Lieutenant. While talking with
Lieutenant Adamson, Foster was brought to realize that certain
benefits had accrued to the soldiers during the service in the army.
Some of the men of the regiment had learned to write and read, and
it seemed to him quite reasonable that such training as had been

'R. B. Foster, Historical Sketch of Lincoln Institute, an address given at
the institution, July 4, 1871, 5.
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2 THE HISTORY OF LINCOLN UNIVERSITY

going on should continue even after demobilization. Those interested
in the project suggested to Foster that the regiment give enough
money to start a school in Missouri and that he take charge of it.
Foster, hesitant about committing himself, asked for time to con-
sider the suggestion.’ A meeting of the men of the ranks was held
at Fort McIntosh, Texas, and the following set of resolutions was
passed:

“Whereas, the freedom of the black race has been achieved
by war, and its education is the next necessity thereof, re-
solved, that we, the officers and the enlisted men of the 62nd
United States Colored Infantry (organized as the First Mis-
souri Volunteers of A. D.) agree to give the sums annexed to
our names, to aid in founding an educational institution, on
the following conditions:

First, the Institute shall be designed for the spécial benefit
of the freed blacks.

Second, it shall be located in the state of Missouri.

Third, its fundamental idea shall be to combine study with
labor, so that the old habits of those who have always la-
bored, but never studied, shall not be thereby changed and
that the emancipated slaves, who have neither capital to spend
nor time to lose, may obtain an education.”

A committee was then formed, composed of Surgeon C. Allen,
Captain Henry R. Parson, Captain Harrison Dubois, First Lieuten-
ant A. M. Adamson, and First Lieutenant R. B. Foster. This group
was empowered to add such other members as might be necessary.*
Dr. Allen, a man of high character and influence, contributed
$100.00. This act on the part of Dr. Allen no doubt influenced
others, for Colonel Barret and Lieutenant Colonel Branson each
gave a similar amount. These gentlemen were not with the regi-
ment at the time, but were interested in the project of founding
a school which the men of their old regiment had begun.’

The lieutenants of the 65th Infantry gave $50.00 each and
officers of higher rank gave $100.00. Fiirst Sergeant Brown, Com-
pany D, gave $75.00; Sergeants Curd, Bergamire, Alexander and
Moore gave $50.00 each, and others of the non-commissioned offi-
cers gave smaller amounts ranging from $25.00 to $5.00. The

‘R. B. Foster, op. cit., 6.

*Anon., Centennial Exhibit, 1876, found in vaults of Lincoln University
business office.

*Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. I. (1922), No. 2, 2.

*Foster, R. B., op. cit., T.



THE FOUNDING OF LINCOLN INSTITUTE 3

total amount contributed by the officers of the 62nd Infantry was
$1,084.50, while the men of the same regiment contributed
$3,966.50. Some of these soldiers gave money at a great sacrifice.
One Samuel Sexton, a member of the 65th Infantry earning only
$13.00 a month, gave $100.00. Foster thought highly of such an act
and commended it to others.” The fact that the regiment, which was
paid only a nominal sum per month, could contribute more than
three thousand dollars is an indication that there were others
whose interest and sacrifice rivaled that of Sexton. The contribu-
tion from the 65th Infantry amounted to $1,379.50.

There were two conditions upon which the gifts were made
from the regiments: one was that the school should be established
in Missouri and the other was that it should be opened to colored
persons.’ This did not mean that the persons of other races could
not attend the school, but that it had been established especially
for the benefit of the Negro. The founders felt that, because
of a serious need for a school for Negroes in Missouri, it was their
duty to establish one. Major-General Giles A. Smith at the head-
quarters of the First Division of the 25th Army Corps, stationed at
Brownsville, Texas, heartily endorsed the scheme on January 27,
1866. He said the committee which had the work in hand was cor-
dially approved and recommended it to the favorable consideration
of philanthropists. He had confidence in the men whose hands the
regiment had placed the matter and he felt sure they were friends
of the Negro. The movement was endorsed also by W. T. Clark,
Camp Commander. He thought the movement was one which
every philanthropic man in the country could support. He endorsed
it heartily, approved all that General Smith had said, and thought
the aim a worthy one.” Major-General Clinton G. Fisk said that
the plan was a worthy one and probably the most effective that
could be undertaken for the education of the race. He zealously
recommended the measure to the support of all parties interested
in the amelioration of the condition of the blacks.”

The project of establishing a school for the benefit of Negroes in
Missouri was very important; it was endorsed not only by the
subordinate officers but by the superior officers as well. These
endorsements no doubt had much influence on the publie.

*Unpublished History, 11.

"Foster, R. B., op. cit., T.

*Foster, R. B., Ibid, 12.

*Unpublished History, 13.

“Lincoln Untversity Quarterly, Vol. I. (1922), No. 2, 1. Endorsement was
given in 1866.

“Ibid., 2.



4 THE HISTORY OF LINCOLN UNIVERSITY

The work which had been begun at Fort McIntosh on January
14, 1866, was continued in St. Louis. It was agreed that two or
three persons of influence who were interested in the education of
the Negro should be added to the committee. Foster and Parsons
considered several men of St. Louis as possibilities, all of whom had
expressed more than passing interest in the advancement of their
Negro brethren. They were: Mr. Fishback, Dr. Post, Dr. Eliot, Mr.
J. W. Mclntyre, and Mr. James E. Yeatman. Two of them, Mr. Mec-
Intyre and Mr. Yeatman, agreed to become members of the informal
committee, and to help raise money for the project.” Yeatman be-
came treasurer and remained in that position for four years; Mec-
Intyre was made secretary. Governor Fletcher later joined the
organization and did much to aid in the progress of this enterprise.
Foster was sent to eastern states to solicit funds from philan-
thropists.

At the same time another effort was made in the interest of
Negro education in Missouri by the Methodist Episcopal Church.”
Their plan had progressed as far as the appointment of a board of
trustees, which considered plans and formulated definite ideas for
the establishment of a school. A conference between the board of
that institution and the committee of Lincoln Institute concluded
that a small offering should be made toward Central University on
the condition that a school open to colored pupils would be started
at once.” The committee for Lincoln Institute agreed as a unit in
favor of it. Some of the members of the Central University board
vigorously opposed the idea and it was dropped, thereby losing
the opportunity of establishing the school near St. Louis where the
bulk of the Negroes were and still are. The purpose which the sol-
diers had in mind was the creation of an industrial school which
would be able to serve its patrons better in a small town like Jeffer-
son City. With the collapse of this project, there was little else to
do but go on with Lincoln Institute, as the committee interested in
Lincoln Institute saw it.

On February 20, 1866, the committee working in the interest of
Lincoln Institute was supplanted by a Board of Trustees. It was
composed of James E. Yeatman, J. W. McIntyre, both of St. Louis;
R. B. Foster, Henry Brown, Harrison Dubois, W. R. Parsons, C.
Allen and A. M. Adamson. The duties of the board rested upon
Yéatman, McIntyre, Foster and Brown, because the others were
never able to meet with them for the transaction of business.”

*Foster, Historical Sketch, 8.
*Ibid., 9.

“Foster, Historical Sketch, 8.
“Unpublished History, 11.



THE FOUNDING OF LINCOLN INSTITUTE 5

The first action of the new board of trustees was to have the
school incorporated under that part of the law of the state relating
to Normal Schools.” The Articles of Incorporation were presented
to the Cole County Circuit Court, June 25, 1866, as follows:

“State of Missouri, County of Cole, in vaecation, Circuit
County Court, Cole County.

“Whereas, William Bishop, R. A. Parker, J. Addison Whit-~
aker, Emory S. Foster, R. B. Foster, Thomas C. Fletcher, R.
F. Wingate, Henry Brown, Arnold Krekel and James E. Yeat-
man have filed in the office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court,
the Articles of Association in compliance with the provisions
of an act concerning corporations under the name and style
aforesaid, with all the powers, privileges and immunities
granted in act above named.

“By order of the judges in vacation.

“In testimony Whereof, I, William H. Lusk, Clerk of said
Court, have hereunto set my hand and seal of said Court, done
at office in the City of Jefferson this 25th day of June A. D.,
1866. Signed William H. Lusk.”

From the time that the first committee had been organized,
January 14, 1866, to the time of incorporation, June 25, 1866, there
had been many changes in board personnel.

In the same year the Board adopted a constitution by which it
was to be governed, the provisions of which were as follows:

“The name of the association was to be called the Board of
Trustees of Lincoln Institute. The purpose of this board was
to establish in or near Jefferson City an educational institution
which should be open to colored people. It was not to be closed
to others, but its special interest was the education of the
Negro race. The board was to consist of ten members whose
terms of office and manner of election were to be fixed in the
by-laws which were to be adopted from time to time. The
officers of the board were such as were common to organiza-
tions of its kind. The officers were to keep office until such
time as their terms were ended by the board and were to
carry out such duties as were imposed upon them by the main
body. Five members constituted a quorum to transact the busi-
ness of the Board of Trustees. Extraordinary business, such
as authorizing the transfer of real estate or the changing of
the constitution, required the complete board. The test of

“Statutes of 1865 (Missouri) Chapter 70.



R. B. FOSTER
Prineipal, 1868-1870; 1871-1878




THE FOUNDING OF LINCOLN INSTITUTE 7

religion could not be invoked in the election of teachers or
the admission of students in the school.”

The constitution by which the school was to be operated was
clearly set forth and, with only a few changes in the by-laws, it
has remained the same until the present writing.

After organization and incorporation, the board was ready to
do business. The amount of money on hand was six thousand dol-
lars, one thousand of which had been donated by non-soldiers.” Fos-
ter was ordered to begin school in September, 1866, as principal.
The project which had begun in Fort McIntosh was soon to
become a reality. It was not easy to begin school because the quar-
ters were inadequate and there was no equipment. Two colored
churches were the only places worth considering for holding classes
and one of these, the Baptist Church, was already being used as
a school by a missionary society. Foster then offered to recondition
the Colored Methodist Church and pay rent on it in exchange for
its use as a classroom and administration building. We are not
told what the rent was to be. The trustees of the Methodist Church
agreed to the proposition but the minister refused Foster the use
of the church on the ground that the teachers would all be Negroes.

Then Foster applied to the white Methodist Episcopal Church—
called by some the Northern Methodist—for the use of the base-
ment of that church, making the same offer which had been made
to the Negro Methodist Church. The trustees of this church agreed
but the minister refused because all the pupils would be Negroes.
With every possible church channel closed to him, Foster then
applied to the township’s directors for an old building with two
rooms twenty-two feet square. In this delapidated structure, on
September 17, 1866, began Lincoln Institute with two pupils, Henry
Brown and Cornelious Chappelle.® It was not long, however, before
the building was filled, indicating the active desire on the part of
the Negroes for mental improvement. The school became so
crowded that an assistant teacher, Mr. Festus Reed, had to be
secured.” He was compensated for his work by the sum of $200.00.
In this modest way, Lincoln University began its work.

Many problems attended the opening of Lincoln Institute. The
most trying was that of securing finances to keep the project in
operation. Upon assuming his duties as principal, the position of

"Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. I. (1922), No. 2, 4.
*Foster, R. B., Historical Sketch of Lincoln Institute, 9.
®Address of R. B. Foster, July 7, 1871, 10.

"Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 11,
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financial and publicity agent became vacant. The vacancy was soon
to be filled by a promising young Negro, then studying at Adrian
College in Michigan. He was Charles A. Beal, often referred to as a
pulpit orator. He dedicated his life to Negro education and decided
to cast his lot with some former slave states. He and a schoolmate,
W. H. Payne, wrote to several of these states, among them Missouri.
The letter was sent to Governor Thomas Fletcher whose secretary,
C. C. Draper, passed the letters on to Principal Foster of Lincoln
Institute.” Splendid endorsements accompanied Beal’s application.
Foster wrote to Beal that he would be glad to have him work at
the school if it could be arranged.

Governor Chaflin of Massachusetts recommended him highly.
Foster, who was in need of teachers at the time, wrote Beal and
Payne that he would be glad to employ them if they could arrange
to have their salaries cared for. He probably meant if they could
induce some of the missionary organizations to assume the re-
sponsibility for their salaries. Payne came as a teacher and was
made principal and Beal was made field agent. After Beal began his
work he made a good impression upon those whom he met. He was
endorsed by some of the best known persons in the country. He was
recommended highly by Governor Chaflin of Massachusetts who
felt the undertaking was a worthy one and one in which all persons
who were in sympathy with a program to fit Negroes for the duties
of citizenship might contribute.” There were others who were will-
ing to give aid, also.

Frederick Douglas, the best known Negro in the country at that
time and considered the leader of the race by many, said that he
would gladly commend the mission of Mr. Beal.” There came recom-
mendations from many others, especially Henry Ward Beecher,
who said he cordially commended Lincoln Institute and its agent,
Mr. Beal, to his friends and parishoners.” With such recommenda-
tions as these, Rev. C. R. Beal was gladly retained and immediately
went about his work. Beal began lecturing for the school in the
year 1868.

Beal seems to have been successful in his undertaking. From the
churches and individuals, he was able to raise six thousand dol-
lars, which was used in wiping out the indebtedness of the institu-
tion and equipping the first main building.” Payne says that after

“Bits of History, Letter to President Young, by W. H. Payne, undated.
“Unpublished History.

*I'bid.

*Ibid.

*Ibid.
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all expenses were paid, $1,200 remained, and that was placed in the
treasury of Lincoln Institute.”

In recording the early efforts to create Lincoln Institute, the
official historian gave an imposing but complete list of those
who contributed to the enterprise. Some of these gifts came from
Negroes who could read and write, but by far the larger portion
came from the less literate. Some did not sign their names or the
agents or collectors were not careful to write their names. Others
simply signed with a cross. Whatever chance the Negroes in gen-
eral had to acquire an education before the war was lost with the
enactment by the state legislature in 1847 of the drastic law making
it a crime for anyone to teach Negroes to read and write.
Thus a large part of the contributors could do little else than draw
crosses. One who contributed to this edifice was Jesse James, the
famous outlaw, who gave five dollars at one time and ten dollars
at another time. Without these means the school could not have
gone on, Milton Turner tells us.”

There was much difficulty in keeping the school going in spite
of the money that was coming in. When Lincoln opened, it did not
have to begin in a barren field, where there had been no educa-
tion before. There had been in existence in Jefferson City, a Negro
school taught by Miss Montague, Miss Hess, Miss Buffington and
Miss Manuel, benevolent white women, These women had to suffer
social ostracism as was the case with those New England white
men and women who devoted their attention to the instruction of
southern Negroes after the Civil War. They went on with their
work amid the jeers of the thoughtless, instructing such children
as were entrusted to them, without pay.”

#Ibid.
#Centennial History of Missouri, 1820-1921. Vol, 1., 682,
®Lancoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 3.



CHAPTER IIL.
PERIOD OF DEVELOPMENT: 1868 to 1870

THE FIRST administration with Foster at the helm was indeed
a trying one. In fact the two initial decades of the school’s history
might be termed the period of struggle. Foster, by birth, was well
suited for his work. He came from an old New England family
which had emigrated from Ipswich, England, to that section before
the Revolution. His first American ancestor was Thomas Foster, son
of the rector of a church in Ipswich, England, who came to Dor-
chester, Massachusetts, in 1634. He soon got into the thick of the
resistance to colonial governors. In 1634, he was made a sergeant
in an impromptu regiment, ready to risk all for the charter and
the liberty of the inhabitants of Massachusetts. His father was
Richard Foster, who took the Assistance Test, as a token of his
allegiance to the new undertaking for liberty, and enlisted in the
Continental Army. In the Civil War, Richard Baxter and three of
his brothers fought for the same cause, freedom, and two descend-
ants died on the battlefield. In the World War, at least two of Rich-
ard Baxter’s grandsons fought for liberty and democracy. Foster
came from a family of patriots. Richard Baxter was born in Han-
over, New Hampshire, October 25, 1826. His mother was Irene
Burroughs, a scholarly woman. He studied under his brother Daniel,
at Hopkinton, Massachusetts, and at his home and then entered
Dartmouth College in the class of 1851." He left in 1860, but was
given his bachelor’s degree in the class of 1867. From 1850 to 1858,
he was a teacher in Illinois and Indiana.’

When confusion reigned in the country before the war, he
became a free soldier and took part in the John Brown raid upon
Fort Titus in 1856. In 1862 he volunteered in a Nebraska outfit for
service with Union troops. He later applied for service with Negro
troops and was commissioned first lieutenant of the 63rd U. S.
Volunteers. He was in command of the rear guard at the battle of

'Letter from Herbert D. Foster to N. B. Young, 1924, at the time the former
was a professor at Dartmouth College.

*Unpublished History.
*Letter from Foster to Young.
‘Ibid.
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Palmetto Ranch, Texas, May 25, 1865." He had shown his interest
in Negroes by asking to be transferred to a Negro unit of the army.

His work in the establishment of Lincoln Institute was probably
the greatest accomplishment of his career.

The school opened with two departments, preparatory and nor-
mal. Normal schools at that time covered a “multitude of sins.”
They were not strictly teacher-training schools. Such institutions
that were not public and had not reached the place where they
could be called colleges were designated as Normal Schools or Uni-
versities, whether there was any reason for it or not. The list of
subjects offered in the Normal Department is as descriptive as it
is revealing. During the first year of the school’s existence the sub-
jects were Orthography, Reading, Phonetics, Mental Arithmetic,
Written Arithmetic, Geography, Constructive Language, United
States History, Physical Geography, Map Drawing, Penmanship,
Vocal Culture, Elocution, Composition, Vocal Music, Synthetic
Drawing and Calisthenics." This curriculum was on the whole
maintained in after years. In the fourth year, history was dropped
in favor of political economy. There is every reason to think that
they were elementary not only in title but also in treatment, for
most of those who applied for admission were able to do only
elementary work,

The school had on its shelves about eight hundred volumes, a
fair-gsized library for a young school. Many of these were text-
books of various kinds. All students had access to these books
under suitable regulations, one of which was that the student
could take the books out of the library between one-thirty and two
o’clock on Saturday.” We are told also that the library contained a
good assortment of wall maps. It is very probable that the library
counted for little as a means of instruction, the class work being
done wholly by the textbook method.’

The government of the school was based upon the principle that
not literary culture only, but the adoption of orderly habits and
right principles of action were necessary for a good education.
The faculty was scrupulously kind and parental, but it was also
strict and just. The school was much concerned about where the
students should spend their time, and where they should go when
they were off the grounds. There was a regular time set aside for

*Ibid.
*Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1. (1922), No. 2, 7.
"Tbid., 7.

*As late as 1921 the library was open only when a teacher felt like
opening it.
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students to study and to maintain quiet. There were probably many
other regulations which have not come down to us.

When the school opened in 1868, a shortage of money faced the
administrators. Foster applied to the Board of Education for
the privilege of instructing the Negro children in Jefferson City
and asked also that he be allowed to instruct children entitled to
free education under the law and to charge all other pupils one
dollar per month. The Board of Education agreed to this proposi-
tion and promised to pay Foster $75.00 per month. His monthly
salary from Lincoln Institute was $15.00 per month. The board also
commissioned Foster to take the census of the Negro children
during the holidays, an arrangement that was continued to the end
of his administration.’

W. H. Payne ‘was invited to come to Jefferson City and work in
Lincoln Institute on the condition that he would provide for his own
salary. It seems rather peculiar that a man would be asked to come
to take a place upon a faculty and be asked to pay himself. Payne,
however, was able to get the American Missionary Association to
contribute $400.00 for his salary. When he came to Jefferson City,
Foster was teaching in the Public School System and the Institute
was without any building of its own.” Payne was assigned to teach
in the building used by the Colored Baptists, an old frame building
formerly used as a stable.” This would indicate that the first days
of Lincoln Institute were quite trying and such was the fate of
most Negro colleges begun on non-philanthropic contributions.

As poor a condition as Lincoln Institute presented at the time,
it received the commendation of the State Superintendent of Pub-
lic Instruction. In his annual report of 1868, in referring to Negro
schools, he appended a special note about Lincoln Institute. This
school, he thought, showed energy and ability on the part of the in-
structors. He recommended that, if it were possible, the state should
give assistance to the school and make it a place for training colored
teachers exclusively.”

In 1869 the school was attracting some attention. In this year,
a bill was offered in the legislature by Representative L. A. Thomp-
son of Montgomery County to enlarge the University of the State
of Missouri by establishing the Department of Agriculture and
Mechanic Arts and provide for the maintenance of the same. This

*The People’s Tribune, Jefferson City, January 1, 1868.
“Letter from Payne to Young written after 1923.

“Ibid.

“Report of State Superintendent of Public Schools, 1868, 10.
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same bill provided for establishing Lincoln Institute in Cole County.”
It did not say what was to be the nature of the Institute, but said
that it would be established in Cole County.

This bill was read the first time; then the rules were suspended
for a second reading the same day. The bill was then sent to the
Committee on Education with a recommendation that it be printed.”
When the bill was reported, the part relating to Lincoln Institute
had been dropped. Nothing more was said about Lincoln at this
time.

In 1870, the name of Lincoln Institute came before the Legis-
lature again. The State Superintendent of Public Schools in his
report of 1870 again requested that assistance be given Lincoln In-
stitute. He said that a great deal need not be spent in order to make
this school one which would help Negroes in the preparation of
teachers. This school, with no buildings and with sufficient funds to
maintain only one teacher, was in its fourth year of successful
operation and had an endowment fund of $7,000. It, however,
operated upon a small scale, and with limited means was
doing good work in the right direction.” The Superintendent looked
upon this as the only way that the state could establish schools for
Negroes.

In January, 1870, in Jefferson City, a meeting was held by the
leading Negro citizens of the state for the purpose of petitioning
the General Assembly to grant part of the federal land to Lincoln
Institute. The Morrill Act of 1862 gave to each state 30,000 acres of
land for every senator and representative.” Missouri’'s share was
330,000 acres which were to be distributed by the Assembly of
1870.” The Negroes petitioned the legislature for two things: first
that Lincoln Institute should be given part of the federal land and
second, that the school should be made a state normal school.”

In response to this demand, the State Superintendent of Public
Instruction asked that better educational facilities be provided for
Negroes. Representative J. B. Harper of Putnam County offered
a resolution to the effect that when the Board of Trustees of
Lincoln Institute would consent to convert the school into one
for the training of Negro teachers for public schools and would

*Journal of the House of Representatives, Regular Session, 25th General
Assembly, 150.

“Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 5.
“Report of the State Superintendent of Public Schools, 1870, 36.

“F. L. Paxson, History of the American Frontier, 474. The Morrill Act was
:_spoln:gred tl_)y Senator J. S. Morrill for the benefit of agriculture and mechan-
ical education.

"Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No, 2, 15.
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certify under oath that it held in trust for such purpose sufficent
buildings and grounds valued at not less than twelve thousand
dollars, the state would lend its aid. This resolution was approved by
both Houses and became a law. The Board of Regents created by the
act was authorized and required to receive control of the Institute
and manage it as a State Normal School. Whenever the above-
named provisions had been complied with, the state treasury was
authorized to give to the regents of Lincoln Institute not less than
$5,000 per year to be paid semi-annually.” The legislature refused
to consider the resolution until the Committee on Education had
reported on House Bill 688, which included provisions for a State
Normal School for Training Negro Teachers. The Committee on
Education reported the bill favorably. A substitute motion by
Representative J. B. Harper to establish a Normal Department
at Lincoln instead of making it a State Normal School, was turned
down.” The bill passed by a vote of 99 to 3. It was sent to the
Senate for concurrence. The Senate reported to the House on Feb-
ruary 14 that it had passed House Bill 688." It was forwarded to
the Governor and signed by him on the same day.” The state under
the act had provided normal school training for Negro teachers but
it must not be supposed that Lincoln Institute was a state normal
school as the bill seemed to indicate. It was simply a private school
in which normal training was given. A supplementary and explana-
tory act, passed on March 16, specified that no warrant could be
drawn until the treasurer of Lincoln Institute had filed a bond of
$10,000 with the state auditor as a surety for the faithful and
proper application of all such money.” These acts were to go into
effect when $15,000 had been assured by the trustees to the state.

The school’s financial condition made the outlook for the insti-
tution very discouraging indeed. Several good organizations came
to the rescue of the school. The Western Sanitary Commission do-
nated $2,000.00 from its funds; the Refugee Freedmen's and Aban-
doned Land Fund, $6,000.00, and the Freedman’s Bureau, $2,000.00.
There were liberal donations by persons in the East.* The school

*House Journal, Adjourned Session of the 25th General Assembly, 1870, 438.

*Ibid., 439.

*Ibid., 440.

“Ibid., 450.

“Ibid., 455. The Governor wrote the following letter: State of Missouri,
Exec. Dept., City of Jefferson, February 14, 1870. To the Speaker of the House
of Representatives, Sir: I have this day signed House Bill of the following
title: An Act Establishing a State Normal School for Colored Teachers.
Respectfully, J. W, MecClurg.

®Laws of Missouri, 1870, 138.
*Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 6.
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was now in a position to meet the demands of the state and comply
with the law.

The Institute asked that part of the government land be
given to it since the original purpose of the founders of the insti-
tution was to make it an agricultural school. As proof of this, it was
claimed that the trustees had invested the contributions of the
soldiers in 362 acres of land about three miles from Jefferson City.”
The Board of Trustees had in mind establishing an agricultural
college, building up a self-governing community, and carrying out
the desire of the founders of the school in providing a place where
students could learn to labor and study.” The 362 acres were what
was known as the University Farm, which has since been sold and
transformed into an attractive residential section known as Wag-
ner’s Addition. The Trustees acquired certain other lands before
1880. In 1870 the board purchased for $600.00 from R. B. Foster and
his wife, Lucy R. Foster, two-fifths of Outlot Number Nineteen,
containing about two acres, which faced on Atchison Street.” In
1871, the Board of Trustees purchased from the same owners an-
other three-fifths part of Outlot Nineteen, about three acres, also
facing on Atchison Street, thus making the complete amount of land
purchased from R. B. Foster and Lucy R. Foster equal to one com-
plete outlot. Another plot, held by Sarah Foster,” contained about
three acres fronting on Atchison Street, and for this plot the
Trustees agreed to pay not more than $600.00. This same year the
State of Missouri purchased from P. T. Miller and his wife, Maria L.
Miller, of Cole County, for $1,000, Outlot Twenty, with the exception
of one half-acre fronting on Chestnut and Dunklin Streets.” This
gave the school virtually two complete outlots. In 1875, another piece
of property was added to Lincoln Institute—Outlot Twenty-one
purchased for $850.00* from H. W. Long, who previously had bought
it from Peter Myers, sheriff of Cole County, on November
15, 1875." The land acquired in this last transaction is the land
now occupied by the school buildings.

Payne had come to teach at Lincoln the previous September at
the invitation of Principal Foster, but found that there was no
building in which to teach. Foster had arranged for Payne to begin
his work in the Colored Baptist Church. At the same time, Payne’s

*Ibid., 4.

*Ibid., 5.

“Warranty Deed (Book 10, 595, filed on May 13, 1870).
*Warranty Deed to Lincoln Institute, 1871, Book I., 278.

*Ibid., Book 1., 188, Filed November 14, 1873.

“*Warranty Deed to Lincoln Institute, 1871, Book 4, 630.
“Warranty Deed to Lincoln Institute, 1871, Book 4, 332, 333, 334.
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sister, Fannie Payne, came to aid her brother in his work here. The
church was then in an old frame building once used for a stable. It
stood near where the Missouri Pacific Railway depot now stands. In
a short while the Baptist congregation bought a little brick church
in the southeastern part of the city. The school was moved there
and remained there until its new building was completed.” Payne
was in charge of the school in 1870 while Foster was teaching in
the public school. Payne was the first Negro principal of Lincoln
Institute. Payne says that he charged no tuition to the old or
young, but with the help of Beal, the field agent, was able to meet
all expenses; that is, their own salaries and other costs of running
the school. Besides he was able to add $1,200.00 to the treasury of
Lincoln Institute.”

Foster was able to influence the trustees of Lincoln Institute to
hire him at an annual salary of $1,200, just enough to absorb what
had been accumulated. Payne was elected principal of the city
school for Negroes at $75.00 per month from the city and $5.00
from Lincoln Institute. He was to be entered in the school cata-
logue as Professor of Latin and Mathematics. Beal was to con-
tinue his work on a commission basis. Payne refused this offer
and ended his connection with Lincoln Institute. He settled first at
Lebanon, Missouri, where he studied law in the office of Judge
Wallace and later took charge of the Negro Public Schools of
Lawrence, Kansas, where he continued his law studies at the Uni-
versity of Kansas.”

In 1871 the Institute was able to erect its first building, a sixty-
by-seventy-foot structure, three stories high, with a basement and
furnace.” It was supplied with flues in order to allow substitution
of stove heat should the furnace become defective. The money for
its erection, we are told, came out of the following funds: the
money contributed by the soldiers; the money collected by
two agents, Beal and Lane; $8,000 from the Freedman’s Bureau;

“Bits of History, undated letters to N. B. Young from W. H. Payne.
®Bits of History, op. cit. The trouble with this account is that it was not

given until after the year 1923 because N. B. Young did not take over the
school as president until after that year.

“Bits of History, op. cit. Payne accused Foster of squandering the Insti-
tute’s money. Of the money entrusted to him by the soldiers, he had used
$2,000 to buy a home for himself, had loaned $2,000 to the white Presbyterian
Church in Jefferson City, and had paid $2,000 for forty acres of ground owned
by a Negro about a mile from the city. Payne did not think this worth $500 as
it was covered with rock, a small log house and a few peach trees. Payne seems
slightly in error when the amount given by the soldiers was stated at six
thousand. He probably referred to what was left by the soldiers and other
sources.

®Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 9.
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$2,000 from the already mentioned Western Sanitary Commission,”
and various donations from churches and individuals.

The school year was divided into three terms or quarters, the
first of which began in September and continued sixteen weeks
until Christmas. The second, or winter, term began on the first
Monday of January, unless it was the first day of the year, in which
case school would open the next day, and continued for twelve
weeks. There was a vacation of two or three weeks during the
holiday between the fall and winter terms and a vacation of one
week between the winter and spring terms.” These terms were
unequal in that the fall term was longer than the others, yet there
was something natural about the term closing just before the holi-
days in order that the students could enjoy their vacation.* The
school is now operated on the semester system.

In 1871, Foster was not re-elected to the principalship. He
blamed a Mr. Whitaker, a member of the board, for this action.
Foster’'s friends claimed that Whitaker voted against Foster be-
cause the latter had voted against Governor McClung. Foster re-
peated that accusation at a meeting of the Board and charged
further that Whitaker had employed dishonorable means in secur-
ing his ouster. Whitaker, thereupon, spat in Foster’s face. For such
conduct, Whitaker was expelled from the board. Foster gave as
his reason for leaving Lincoln Institute, that he was in need of a
rest for his health.”

“Foster’s Historical Sketch, 12.
¥ Lincoln Institute Catalogue (not a quarterly), 1871-1872.
“Historical Sketch by Foster, op. cit.

®The Jefferson City People’s Tribune, August 16, 1871. The minutes of the
Board are not available before 1873.



CHAPTER III.

THE ADMINISTRATIONS OF SMITH, MITCHELL
AND CLAYTON

THE choice for Foster's successor fell upon Rev. Henry Smith,
A. M. As the third head of Lincoln Institute, he was the unanimous
choice’ of the Board of Trustees® He was born in the state
of New York in 1822 and taught for one year in that state.
He was graduated from Oberlin College in 1850, and then attended
a seminary and graduated in theology in 1853. He taught two years
in Farmers College near Cleveland, Ohio." No record remains of his
occupation prior to assuming the Lincoln post. Elected at the same
time was the first assistant teacher, Miss Alice M. Gordon, who
served for two years. The others who were on the faculty at that
time were Miss Matilda Blackman, who served part of the time
without pay and the rest of the time as a teacher for the American
Missionary Association, and W. H. Miller, A. B., whose connection
lasted only one year (1871-1872)."

The enrollment reached 216 but a large percentage were from
Jefferson City. Students from Jefferson City were permitted to
enter the elementary grades in Lincoln Institute for the reason
that there were no facilities provided for them in the city. The
years 1872 and 1873 saw the number enrolled reach 183—87 girls
and 96 boys. At this time those in the elementary grades from
Jefferson City were excluded because the city had now provided
facilities for such students. There were 101 students outside of
Cole County which indicated the school was extending its influ-
ence. The students came from forty counties in the State of Mis-
souri and four other states of the Union. The enrollment for the
year 1873-1874 had decreased from the preceding years to 126. The
reason for this is not known.

The faculty for the year 1872-1873 was composed of Professor
Smith as principal, Miss Alice Gordon, Miss Matilda Blackman, Miss
Lottie Harrison, and Mrs. Sophie Smith, wife of the principal.

*The People’s Tribune, Jefferson City, Missouri. August 16, 1871.
*Foster, R. B., Historical Sketch of Lincoln Institute, 17.
*Linecoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 11,
‘Ibid.
19
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In 1873-74 the faculty was almost wholly new. The only old mem-
bers left were the principal and Miss Alice M. Gordon. The other
members were Professor J. C. Corbin, former Superintendent
of Public Instruction in Arkansas; Mrs. Sarah Barnes, a grad-
uate of the Normal School of Oswego, New York; Mrs. Ella
Billings of Oberlin, Ohio, and Miss Lizzie Lindsay, who was edu-
cated in the high school of Princeton, Illinois. Mrs. Lena Sassun
taught Music and five students were employed to help in instruc-
tion.

Foster, who had resigned, was re-employed to carry out the
project of securing a fund of $20,000 to make the necessary im-
provements at the school. There was a need for more money to
employ teachers to build a boarding house and to improve the
general efficiency of the school. It was made known that an un-
conditional gift would be gladly received. The subscription could
be so made that the money would not be used until the
entire amount had been pledged. Foster made addresses in both
Philadelphia and Boston.” Even though he no longer was principal
of the school, his interest in the welfare of the school was enduring
and he continued soliciting funds for some time.

A course of lectures on civil government and political economy
was given for the students of the normal department by Judge
Arnold Krekel of the United States District Court.” There were
other lectures on teaching and allied subjects given by the principal
and teachers.

The school was constantly in need of money in spite of the
great effort to keep it out of debt. In 1870 Nicholas Bell was
elected to the General Assembly from the Fifth Ward of the City
of St. Louis. In December of that same year Charlton Tandy, a
Negro of St. Louis and a man of some education and much com-
mon sense, called upon Bell at his office in the interest of his
race. Tandy, when asked what he thought the solution of the race
problem might be, replied that education was the only way the
race could be prepared for citizenship. He believed that unless edu-
cation could be provided for these three million Negroes who had
just come out of slavery, it would have been better for them to
have remained in slavery. He desired that Bell should sponsor a
bill which would allow Negroes to attend the public schools of the
state with other citizens and benefit by the school funds. Such a bill
was prepared and introduced by Bell. Tandy accompanied Bell to

*Foster, R. B., Historical Sketch, 12,
*Lincoln University Quarterly, Vol. 1., No. 2, 7.
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Jefferson City and he was appointed a messenger in the legislature.
Soon after his arrival Tandy paid a visit to Lincoln Institute and
found that it was practically out of funds and in grave danger of
being closed. He reported as much to Bell, who then visited the
school and examined the records and had a conference with the prin-
cipal. The principal, Foster, who was still at the head of the school,
felt that if the school could be given a little help—about five thou-
sand dollars—it could get along. Bell came to the rescue of the
school by presenting a bill to the legislature, which gave some as-
sistance. There was a public meeting also held in the House of
Representatives at Jefferson City on March 10, 1870, for the pur-
pose of raising funds for the school. Governor J. W. McClung pre-
sided and many of the representatives were among those who
subscribed.” These incidents give some idea of the tremendous fi-
nancial struggle the school experienced. Bell continued his interest
in the school at a time when every bit of effort, no matter how
little, was needed to enable the school to keep its doors open.

The closing exercises on June 21 of this year (1872) were consid-
ered encouraging for a struggling institution. The program differed
from any held before at the school. It consisted of declamations,
recitations, compositions and dialogues, interspersed with vocal and
instrumental music. Part of the program was rendered at two-thirty
in the afternoon and part at eight in the evening.® The People’s
Tribune of Jefferson City said that the exhibition was attended
largely by citizens, members of the legislature, and students of
Jefferson City. More than a few, still skeptical of the value of
Negro education in Jefferson City, were among the merely curious.’
The editor said that the compositions were well written and the
music smoothly rendered. These exercises received much applause
from the audience, which showed that, despite the school’s financial
difficulties, the teachers were doing commendable work.

The year 1871 was important in the history of Lincoln Institute
for it was during this year that the soldiers returned to the school
they had founded. These regiments held a reunion at the
school and looked into the condition and management of it. They
passed a set of resolutions fully approving what had been done and
recommending the Institute to the Negroes of the state and the
friends of education as worthy of their support. The principal, Mr.
Henry Smith, they felt, was doing much to push the school forward.

To show its appreciation for his excellent service, the Board re-

“Unpublished material found in Lincoln Library.
*The Jefferson City Weekly Tribune, June 19, 1872,
"The People’s Tribune, July 3, 1872.
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elected the principal for the ensuing year and fixed his salary at
fifteen hundred dollars.” The trustees also passed a set of resolu-
tions which held the principal responsible for the general super-
vision of all matters connected with the Institute and gave the
Board the right to dismiss any teacher or the boarding-
housekeeper at any time for wilfully disobeying the requirements
of the principal. This would indicate that there had been some
trouble and that as a precaution against a reoccurrence the
order was made by the Board. This provision was embodied in the
contract of each teacher. At the same meeting the salaries of the
teachers were fixed. Those in the elementary department were to
receive not more than $50 per month for a period of nine months
and those in the normal department were to receive not more than
eight hundred dollars per year. These definite contracts are some-
thing that the school for some reason has abandoned in r